### FEMINIST FUTURES

### Caring for people, caring for justice and rights

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, communities around the world are weighing the many possible answers to the questions of 'how did we arrive here?', 'what comes after COVID-19?' and 'what kind of society do we want to build after this global shock?' The pandemic has been so extraordinary in nature that in order to engage with these questions we need, in our search for solutions, to break with the ordinary as well.

This paper contains reflections from members of Oxfam's gender justice community and draws on feminist thinking in order to develop a vision for a caring future, what it might look like and how we might achieve it. Quite humbly and intentionally, this document is not a declaration of Oxfam's organizational policy positions. Rather it is a discussion paper and an exercise in ideation that envisages possibilities. It is the authors' intention that the questions that may arise from this reflection can feed into a much larger discussion that we hope to have with our allies, partners and communities around the world.

Our reflection focuses on three pressing challenges to gender justice – achieving social justice, the climate emergency, and the current economic model – and addresses them from both ethics of care and inequality perspectives. Our vision is to achieve social justice and guarantee universal human rights by imagining a different approach to social organization, one that is centred on care as a right and where care informs politics and policies. By reconsidering how we view and provide care, we could reframe the norms and structures that have historically led to exclusion, discrimination and marginalization of women, Black, Indigenous, and People of Colour, LGBTQIA+ people, those living in poverty and other groups. We believe that by putting care at the centre of our ethics and our politics, we can address aspects of inequality that are not often considered in policy and institutional action. As a result, it is argued, we should see increased wellbeing, social cohesion and trust.

We are inspired by some of the developments we see emerging around us and believe that the reflections in this paper are relevant for all communities, leaders and institutions in moving us further forward.

The time to act is now; there is no going back.

#### Oxfam Discussion Papers

Oxfam Discussion Papers are written to contribute to public debate and to invite feedback on development and humanitarian policy issues. They are 'work in progress' documents, and do not necessarily constitute final publications or reflect Oxfam policy positions. The views and recommendations expressed are those of the author and not necessarily those of Oxfam.

For more information, or to comment on this paper, email advocacy@oxfaminternational.org



### CONTENTS

1	There is no going back	3
-	The way forward	4
2	Caring for social justice and human rights	6
-	The unequal distribution of unpaid care work	6
I	Providing care in the shadow of violence	7
I	Building societies with an ethics of care	8
I	How do we get there?	8
3	Caring for the planet	10
-	The eco-gender gap	10
-	The exploitation of natural resources	11
-	The unequal drivers and impacts of the climate emergency	11
I	Ensuring care for the environment	11
4	Caring for the 99% with new economic thinking	13
,	Alternative economic models based on care	13
-	The barriers to change	14
-	Transformation during the coronavirus recovery	14
5 fo	How to move forward: care, social justice, and huma	_
I	Notes	18
(	Ovfam	23

### 1 THERE IS NO GOING BACK

The COVID-19 pandemic is having a devastating toll around the world. Although death rates have been found to be higher among men,<sup>1</sup> women and girls are facing secondary complications due to the pandemic further entrenching gender-based inequalities. Furthermore, other and intersecting groups such as displaced people, people living in poverty, people of color, and those who identify as LGBTQIA+ have been made vulnerable by decades upon decades of structural exclusion, oppression, and exploitation. This has contributed to these groups being disproportionately affected in the current crisis (see Box 1).

### Box 1: The disproportionate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on marginalized communities

In the first few months of the pandemic and mandated lockdowns:

- In Mexico, official data reports an incremental increase in the rate of violence against women in the context of COVID-19. Between end February and mid-April, more women have been murdered (367) than have died of COVID-19.<sup>2</sup>
- In São Paolo, Brazil, Black communities have had a 62% higher likelihood of dying from COVID-19 than White communities.<sup>3</sup>
- In Colombia, civil society organizations point to the context of COVID-19 as exacerbating the vulnerability of human rights activists, with at least 28 activists and human rights defenders murdered in recent months.<sup>4</sup>
- The Parliament of Hungary ended legal recognition for transgender and/or intersex people, pushing the change through amidst the distraction of the pandemic.<sup>5</sup>
- Approximately 30% of people who are LGBTQIA+ in the USA have had their working hours reduced during COVID-19, compared with 22% of the rest of the population.<sup>6</sup>
- After March 2020, a telephone survey conducted by ASAM (The Association for Solidarity with Asylum Seekers and Migrants) shows that refugees surveyed in Turkey had difficulty in accessing food items (63%) and hygiene materials (53%) during COVID-19. Unemployment among those interviewed rose from 18% to 88% due to precautions taken against the COVID-19 pandemic. Low wage workers disproportionately lost employment and money because they could not safely work from home.<sup>7</sup>

As the above examples show, the global pandemic appears to have exacerbated the violation of human and economic rights of historically marginalized communities as well as undermined civil society efforts to denounce these violations.

Oxfam's report 'Time to Care' refers to an economic system that unequally and unfairly distributes duties, rights and privileges, as well as resources, spaces, and social roles.<sup>8</sup> This discussion paper argues that the context of COVID-19 has worsened the divide between extremes of wealth and poverty through both the action, and inaction, of duty-bearers. In the USA, for example, economic stimuli are once again bailing out corporations.<sup>9</sup> In the same manner, in Mexico, aggressive austerity policies are curtailing funding for social services, disproportionally affecting essential services for women and indigenous peoples.<sup>10</sup> Likewise, the 'hands-off' approach of Nicaraguan leadership has allowed disinformation to spread, risking people from not being able to access life-saving resources.<sup>11</sup> In Slovakia, the emergency period has been used to restrict access to sexual and reproductive health services (SRHR).<sup>12</sup>

In multiple countries, prioritizing capitalist economies has been justified by those in power during the COVID-19 pandemic through war-like narratives and language that support authoritarian action and legitimize draconian responses, <sup>13</sup> whilst (at least in India) stigmatizing patients and destabilizing healthcare systems. <sup>14</sup> In Brazil, China, India, the Philippines, Russia

and the USA, so called 'strongman politics', defined as authoritarian or populist governance with macho and hierarchal leadership, 15 have resulted in the extent of the COVID-19 crisis being initially ignored, downplayed and politicized at key points, endangering collective wellbeing. 16, 17 Other examples no doubt exist. Such policies and approaches in the context of COVID-19 appear to prioritize economic growth and mass consumption over the wellbeing of people, the advancement of social justice among communities, and the protection of the environment.

In a few short months, the exhausting toll that this prioritization of economic growth has taken on us has been laid bare for all to see: on the environment and our food systems, on our collective health, on our personal leisure and family life, and on our basic freedoms.

There is, simply, no going back.

#### THE WAY FORWARD

The pandemic has resulted in a critical juncture being reached, highlighting the inequalities in our current systems and offering us the chance to break away from paradigms that for too long have been considered the norm. Imagining and striving for a feminist future will be critical to breaking away, both in the midst of the crisis and the recovery. The choices we make now – to break with the past or to reinforce the old ways – will be with us for decades and generations.

#### Box 2: Activism during the pandemic

As the pandemic spreads, many communities are creating networks to provide basic goods and services and pushing for policy changes where political leaders have failed. Millions of people across the world have established community structures that draw the outlines of the socially just, inclusive, transformed, feminist futures we aspire to.

- In Iran, neighbourhoods have engaged in mutual aid to feed and care for one another, in spontaneous acts of solidarity.<sup>18</sup>
- Young climate activists have seized the window of opportunity and adapted their activism to share plans for greener cities, reduced consumption, wildlife recovery and more <sup>19</sup>
- Activists have called out the super-rich, who continue to grow their fortunes as they fail
  to pay their dues, and in the same breath called for public bailouts.<sup>20</sup>
- In the USA, Black Lives Matter protests and demonstrations erupted in May 2020 across all 50 states to denounce institutional racism, white supremacy and police brutality, made ever more visible by the pandemic.

The context begs for radical transformation, with care at the center of the COVID-19 response and recovery. Care is more than the physical and emotional work of individuals. Following authors such as Gilligan,<sup>21</sup> care is here understood as extending to broader relational concern towards the wellbeing of others as well as oneself.

Re-organizing towards this more just society, through valuing and recognizing care, would create a society that moves the attainment of universal human rights – such as the right to food, to housing, to healthcare, to a basic income, to having a voice, to not being discriminated against, and to live free from violence – to the forefront (Glenn, 2000).<sup>22</sup> We think that, in the context of deep seated capitalism, racism and patriarchy, there is actually nothing more radical than people and societies unapologetically caring for each other on an equal and equitable basis and being actively supported to do so. We believe this to be the antithesis to an authoritarian, repressive and violent response – instead increasing social justice, and reinforcing democracy, peace and individual and collective wellbeing. Placing care at the centre of our local and global communities is a major political choice.

In 'caring' we can redefine cultures, <sup>23</sup> values and practices, and reshape policies to ensure the wellbeing of everyone in our societies, addressing the root inequalities and systems that have led to sexual and racial oppression. We must eliminate harmful norms by recognizing that care underpins all forms of labour, and that those who have historically provided care – namely women, and particularly Black, Indigenous and People of Colour, LGBTQIA+ groups and those living in poverty or migrants – are of equal value, and not subordinate to those who historically have demanded and received more care, mainly men and boys, people who are well-off, and racially dominant groups. We must develop a new collective voice, agency, leadership and practice that is compassionate and transformative. We must invest in economies that are inclusive and protect human rights, though fairness and mutuality, feminist approaches, and sustainability. We must redefine social solidarity through budgets that prioritize health, education and peace, and apply fiscal justice for the enjoyment, protection and enhancement of people's rights and freedoms.

We envisage a global community that puts care at the centre of future social, political and economic organization, and strives for the attainment of wellbeing, social justice and human rights for all. The content that follows reflects further on three pressing challenges to achieving this: social justice (Section 2), the climate emergency (Section 3), the current economic model (Section 4), and the role of care in the way forward (Section 5).

# 2 CARING FOR SOCIAL JUSTICE AND HUMAN RIGHTS

'Saidiya Hartman said, "care is the antidote to violence."

If we want to move away from systems of violence,
we have to reimagine a world that centres care.'

Meera Ghani, Covid and Care – Feminist Journeys, 2020.

## THE UNEQUAL DISTRIBUTION OF UNPAID CARE WORK

Care work is an essential part of the experience of being human, it is 'crucial to our societies and to the economy. It includes looking after children, elderly people and those with physical and mental illnesses or disabilities, as well as domestic work such as cooking, cleaning, washing, mending and fetching water and firewood'.<sup>24</sup> Care work is critical to keeping our societies running and makes all other forms of work possible. In most countries, unpaid care work is largely done by women and often goes unseen.<sup>25</sup> The International Labour Organization (ILO) estimates that women dedicate on average 3.2 times more time than men to unpaid care work and that there is no country where women and men perform an equal share.<sup>26</sup> According to Ai-Jen Poo, 'the work of caring is one of the most profoundly transformative in our lives and yet it is frequently an invisible and undervalued work'.<sup>27</sup>

The values underlying an unfair distribution of care work represent the same dynamic through which elites capture care for themselves, while denying it or making it impossible for others. The giving and receiving of care has long been gendered and tied up in class and inequality, creating a globalized industry<sup>28</sup> that caters to the wealthy and racially dominant and underpays and undervalues care workers.<sup>29</sup> Even when it is paid, studies show that the conditions of care work, at a local and global scale, maintain problematic if not exploitative labour conditions, asymmetric relations between employers and employees, gender and racial discrimination as well as problems associated with the migration status of an important group of domestic and care workers.<sup>30</sup> This is also the case for migrant workers, who are highly represented in informal care work and often fall through formal safety nets. The millions of people providing care, mostly women and girls and the people in situations of poverty and precarious work, should not have to sacrifice their own care needs and wellbeing to survive within the capitalist system. We are all in the same storm, but we are not all on the same boat.

Studies conducted to understand the unpaid care impacts in the context of COVID-19 have shown that lockdowns as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic have put the unpaid care work responsibilities within the household under additional stress, in particular for women<sup>31</sup> who are more likely to absorb care work responsibilities due to the inaccessibility of public or private social systems that provide care services, such as childcare, schooling, primary healthcare and elder care.<sup>32</sup> The new limitations put in place in the context of COVID-19 to access care-related services exacerbate the already unequal distribution of care where the cost and responsibilities are managed as a private manner within families and households. For example, saying that 'economies are closed' during the pandemic disregards the direct and indirect economic contribution of care work to society in general.<sup>33</sup> These positions also ignore the billions of underpaid and unpaid workers at the centre of the economy and life itself, yet remain in the shadows. They feed, nurse, drive, deliver and look after entire communities.<sup>34</sup> The authors of this paper consider that this neglect is a reflection of how embedded institutionalized sexism,

classism, racism and discrimination are to our current systems, and the extent to which care is excluded from social and economic policy and thinking.<sup>35</sup>

This pandemic has also shone a light on deeper, problematic gendered attitudes towards care and carers. For example, studies carried out around the globe observed that while men report an incremental increase in their domestic and care work responsibilities during the pandemic, women report still carrying out the major bulk of domestic and care responsibilities within the household.<sup>36</sup> The authors consider that the lower and unequal amount of care work that men do at the household level on average, 37 despite increases experienced during this time, is neither sustainable nor acceptable in a fair, inclusive society. At best, it is a sign of attitudes, norms and narratives built on the division between private and public space, and the division between productive and reproductive work, with women perceived as being more naturally 'altruistic' and 'loving'. 38 At worst, these attitudes uphold male privilege that attempts to justify the exercise of 'power over'39 family members and resources, 40 and emphasize the status quo of rigid gender roles and models of families - the heterosexual, middle-class, nuclear family, 41 with men as providers and agents in the public space and women as carers. Although a traditional gender division of labor is less prevalent today in some parts of the world, with the incorporation of women into the formal labour market and some overall increased participation in the public space, much more still needs to be done to value care work and redistribute care responsibilities between genders.

It is important to recognize that more and more men are realizing the importance of care work, and the new realities of unpaid care work in the context of COVID-19 might further shift priorities for men. The social structure, rules and incentives that make predominantly women do more care work can also present barriers when men want to step into care roles, as is increasingly the case for young men in many countries. Rigid, hierarchical and patriarchal social norms can undermine, exclude, oppress and ridicule men who choose to do care work.

## PROVIDING CARE IN THE SHADOW OF VIOLENCE

During COVID-19 lockdowns, the catastrophic situation for women experiencing violence by men has worsened dramatically. The number of victims of gender-based violence is rising, with the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) estimating a 20% increase worldwide in violence against women and girls, referring to it as the shadow pandemic. <sup>42</sup> In places like Latin America and the Caribbean, this increase is alarming. <sup>43</sup> UN Women reported that the COVID-19 pandemic is disproportionately affecting women's mental and emotional health in Asia and the Pacific due to increases in unpaid care work, threats of violence and resulting anxiety. <sup>44</sup> In addition, the coronavirus lockdowns and socio-economic stress have also exacerbated other forms of violence rooted in patriarchy, such as the killing and harassment of human rights activists or police brutality targeting communities and individuals in situations of vulnerability.

In the domestic sphere, lockdowns have created a breeding ground for violence and discrimination that is rooted in social norms linked to performance of gender roles. As lockdowns are prolonged, these gender roles are hardening. On the one hand, there is social pressure for women to perform traditional gender roles such as cooking, cleaning and caring for children, the elderly and the sick, putting them more at risk. Women are at risk of facing violence when they are deemed by their partner or abuser to not be adequately fulfilling these roles and expectations or even when they share opinions or try to make decisions in the home. The economic insecurity, lack of mobility and perceived loss of control by men leads to the use of violence as a tool of re-asserting power and dominance in the home, while society excuses the violence as part of domestic life in times of stress. As a result, domestic violence, including intimate partner violence as well as abuse towards children and LGBTIQ+ family members, is on the rise, and it now more difficult than ever for survivors to seek help.

Considering the severity of the 'shadow pandemic' of gender-based violence, more data needs to be collected, exploring links between trends in care work and gender-based violence and how violence impacts carers from historically underrepresented populations such as Black, Indigenous and People of Colour and LGBTQIA+ populations.

## BUILDING SOCIETIES WITH AN ETHICS OF CARE

Based on our analysis of COVID-19 through the lens of care, we argue that the way to address inequalities, including race, gender, class and sexuality, is to put care at the centre of our values, politics and practice. We argue that the COVID-19 pandemic has made care work more visible and shown that it is *essential* to individual rights and societal wellbeing. The concept of building societies around care is neither new, nor exclusive to this paper. Gilligan, <sup>45</sup> Noddings, <sup>46</sup> Held, <sup>47</sup> Conradi, <sup>48</sup> and Raghuram, <sup>49</sup> among others, have advanced thinking on the ethics of care theory – a discussion that is rich, nuanced, ongoing and increasingly relevant to social justice and human rights propositions. Ethics of care is grounded in an understanding of morality and decision making that centres around 'care' as an integral part of both public and private life: a collective, social responsibility that is shared equally and valued within a society. It is characterized by caring and is needs-centred, holistic and contextual in nature.<sup>50</sup>

#### Box 3: The ethics of care, a bridge to social justice and rights

Care for others starts with a concern for their wellbeing. This has traditionally been associated with the practical care provided by most people to their children in order to see them flourish, in the context of a long-term relationship, and not merely because of duty.

The ethics of care is a relatively recent theory built on the idea that people, beyond our close family and friends, are social beings that are connected and interdependent. This means that the care acknowledged and celebrated in so-called private spaces and close relationships can be extended to the wider community and to the planet. Building a society on the ethics of care would imply a transformation of our personal and collective lives, through the promotion of caring values and mutuality. Those values would challenge the current ones, associated with competition, hierarchies and power imbalances according to gender, race, class, nationality or other factors, and that are reproduced intentionally or unintentionally by markets, policies, institutions and laws.

Public policy design and implementation in areas such as economics, migration, housing or environmental protection will be different if the needs of people affected were central to them. The ethics of care does not disregard principles of justice, equality, fairness or laws and rights. Instead it works on the understanding that considering the needs of individuals and groups concerned will promote justice and rights and not be a hindrance to them.

#### HOW DO WE GET THERE?

Focusing on care can provide a bridge into a more rights based, gender just, feminist world. In the absence of social protections and human rights guarantees, many groups have resisted oppression, exclusion and marginalization by and through the act of caring for each other. In 1977, the Combahee River Collective stated their politics to be based on a 'healthy love' for their community, since 'the only people who care enough about us to work consistently for our liberation are us.'51 Collective marginalization has defined the resistance politics of many groups, yet political movements continue to depend on the wellbeing of their members to

achieve their objectives. Care has been, and will remain, a necessary politics through which to work until gender and intersectional justice can be achieved.

Building a caring society requires challenging assumptions and transforming current structures and models. Transformation at the collective level will demand rethinking rooted norms and the understanding of care, which is why an ethics of care represents a moral stance, an organizing principle, and a mechanism to attain social justice, universal human rights and individual and collective wellbeing.

Translating ethics of care into socialized care and 'politics of caring' would reposition care as an invaluable co-responsibility between public and private actors, and across genders, races, income brackets through a network built on mutuality and interdependence. Care is a relational practice that actively shapes individuals and society. It generates wellbeing and fuels economies, yet in an unequal, unjust socio-economic setting not everyone benefits equally from it. Women and girls are socialized to take up care roles in the absence of societal and governmental support, while children and adults in situation of poverty and vulnerability often go without the care they need.

To achieve a feminist future that cares for people, justice and rights, the elimination of violence is an urgent priority. The authors of this paper envision communities building themselves – beyond just condemning violence – to committing to a new politics of caring: all as carers, all cared for. As Held suggests, a caring society 'would fundamentally transform the oppressive social structures that produce misery and increased violence for vast numbers of people throughout the world'.<sup>52</sup> In a feminist future, the end of gender-based and domestic violence, as well as structural violence, requires the pervasive presence of care.

#### Box 4: The way forward towards care, social justice and human rights

A caring society should not base its organization on privileges and unearned advantages that sustain current hierarchies and power imbalances, but on a politics of care that recognizes and prioritizes mutuality and interdependence.

- Our societies should adopt a framing of care that is centered on shared social responsibility between private and public actors. Hierarchies will be dismantled by guaranteeing that care is not gendered, racially structured, unfairly distributed, unrecognized, underpaid or undervalued.
- Our communities should normalize and expect men to participate fully in care work at home – with children, people who are elderly and others who are dependent – as well as outside of it, as one step towards gender and social justice.
- Our leaders should model a politics of care that prioritizes human dignity and human rights, guarantees freedoms and is actively responsible for the inclusion and wellbeing of all
- Our institutions should design, implement and maintain systems, laws, and norms that
  are founded in solidarity, recognition and respect, inclusion and emotional connection,
  and enable all individuals and communities to thrive.

### 3 CARING FOR THE PLANET

'Caring and sharing, among other values, are crucial in bringing about a more just, equitable and sustainable world' Indigenous Peoples of Mother Earth, Kari-Oca, 2012.

Decades of neoliberal economic policy has led to environmental damage that in 2018 cost countries between \$1bn to \$17bn per weather event, according to Christian Aid.<sup>53</sup> Yet, the economic costs of environmental damage are not even accounted for in national budgets or gross domestic product (GDP).<sup>54</sup> As we approach climate tipping points, it is urgent that caring for the environment, both within countries and globally, is made visible and valued as a core aspect of securing climate justice.

The global spread of the coronavirus has made our interconnectedness more visible and joined many individuals together through the collective experience of a global emergency. The COVID-19 pandemic has had devastating consequences but may also be effective in convincing communities and individuals that we are intertwined,<sup>55</sup> not only at the economic and social level, but also at the environmental level.

The authors of this paper believe ethics of care to be central to any climate policies and plans arising both now and after this pandemic. We envision initiatives that recognize, redistribute and remunerate the work of caring for the environment between public and private actors and across communities and genders, in the same way that we expect it for social care. We support the global youth activism of groups such as Friday for Future, whose strikes are based on caring 'for our planet and for each other'. We are inspired by propositions like the Green New Deal (USA, H.Res.109, 2019) and the Amsterdam City Doughnut, that recognize caring for the wellbeing of communities and the environment as necessary for thriving. We call for a reimagining – aligning with the Feminist Green New Deal – whereby indigenous communities and environmental rights defenders are recognized as leading investors and wealth creators in wellbeing budgets, rather than risks on a profit sheet. We share a vision in which the nature of our relationship with the environment is no longer exploitative but caring.

### THE ECO-GENDER GAP

Many ecofeminist and indigenous ethicists have argued that care is a determinant aspect of the interdependency between communities, society and the environment, and that 'caring' becomes central to environmental decision making when the aim is to support communities to exercise their power and care for themselves and the planet. Caring for the planet, however, is too often framed as a 'feminine' attitude and rejected by *machista* (male chauvinist), patriarchal value systems that devalue and erase the work of women, translating into an eco-gender gap. Given the current climate emergency, we are compelled to do more than simply tally the gender-differentiated vulnerabilities and effects and instead engage with an issue that underlies environmental inequality: gendered attitudes, norms and behaviors towards caring for the planet.

As the feminist scholar Maria Mies argued, 'too often the concept of nature has been used to explain social inequalities or exploitative relations as inborn, and hence, beyond the scope of social change'. Care work, as reproductive labour, has the purpose of sustaining life. It is cyclical and regenerative labour, but it is not 'naturally' gendered. For this reason, approaching environmental justice from a 'care for social justice' perspective leverages the same political resistance to the commodification, extraction, and exploitation of environmental resources.

## THE EXPLOITATION OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Extractivism is inextricably linked to the colonial and neocolonial exploitation of social communities and their environments. <sup>63</sup>The process often involves dominance over ecological resources and is historically intertwined with domination based on race and sex in order to generate profit or create advantage for those with 'power over' others. <sup>64</sup>

Prioritizing profit – for some — is also seen in industrial agriculture and the wider food production industry, which has become increasingly detached from nutritional needs, health and quality of life. In seeking production efficiencies and profit, the time when land is left fallow has been reduced and production methods intensified beyond the limits required for ecological regeneration. <sup>65</sup> This has taken place often with little improvement in the income and wellbeing of most farmers.

## THE UNEQUAL DRIVERS AND IMPACTS OF THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY

In 2015, Oxfam released a report highlighting that the richest 10% of the world's population generate half of our global carbon footprint.<sup>66</sup> Yet the human costs of the climate emergency are not equitably spread across our deeply unequal societies and economies. Climate-related disasters like Cyclone Idai, for example, hit the poorest areas of Mozambique the most, as they were least equipped to cope with its impacts. Hard-hit provinces such as Zambezia and Sofala had poverty rates above the national average (62% and 50% respectively).<sup>67</sup>

Market-based financial measures, including insurance mechanisms, bonds and loans, have so far been largely insufficient in redressing the underlying carbon emission inequalities. Alternative measures are required to reduce the gap, such as innovative financing and 'mechanisms for social protection with democratic participation by those most impacted'. <sup>68</sup> We believe that these mechanisms, especially those with a focus on social protection, ought to be guided by a politics of environmental care as well, reflecting the work that is done, be it paid or unpaid.

## ENSURING CARE FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

A society built on care calls for a global climate activism that fits with the calls for social justice and human rights, as reflected by FRIDA's work connecting 'the struggle for our territories with these practices of care and healing'.<sup>69</sup> This struggle can be a matter of life and death, which is acutely realized in places such as Colombia, where human rights activists are becoming more vulnerable under the cover of the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>70</sup> Yet this caring approach has not yet had the prominence or recognition that it deserves, in comparison to global-north, often male-dominated, technocratic policy activism.

#### Box 5: The way forward for care and the environment

We see a future where care is a pathway to social justice and universal human rights, and as such also at the centre of our journey towards climate justice and a greener, healthier, revitalized planet.

- Our societies should explore their values and attitudes towards caring for the
  environment, deconstructing the narratives of exploitation of environmental bodies that
  persisted and contributed to a climate emergency. They continue to rate
  commodification and consumption as symbols of ('masculine') power and caring for
  climate security as ('feminine') weaknesses.
- Our communities should ensure that care, inequality and the voice of carers are brought to the center of climate activism and the promotion of climate solutions.
- We need a collective effort to re-imagine our economic system. Our leaders should
  work with thinkers, activists, defenders and grassroots movements to redefine nature,
  purpose, practices and measurements of the economic system, carving a new feminist,
  green approach that advances social, economic and climate justice.
- A feminist approach will support the transformation of attitudes, norms, structures and practices towards individual and collective wellbeing and a healthy planet.

# 4 CARING FOR THE 99% WITH NEW ECONOMIC THINKING

'This crisis is an opportunity to dislodge structural inequality and re-frame the political economy which contributed to this tipping point.' African Feminist Post-COVID-19 Economic Recovery Statement, 2020.

Many feminist activists and economists have urged us to consider how important it is for our survival that we redress care inequality. Before the COVID-19 pandemic was declared, the organizer and founder of the US National Domestic Workers Alliance, Ai-Jen Poo, also deemed our political context as 'a once in several generations opportunity to update and transform how we care for one another'. Research by the Institute for Women's Policy Research on the care crisis in the United States highlights how strengthening care jobs is essential to the economic security and wellbeing of care workers who are predominantly women, especially women of colour. How critical this transformation is has further come to light given that the underfunded and diminished public care infrastructure has been such a defining factor of the first wave of COVID-19 in many countries.

In its 2020 report 'Time to Care', Oxfam calculated the annual monetary value of unpaid care work – by very conservative estimates – to be \$10.8 trillion.<sup>73</sup> Outside of this, however, unpaid care work is often framed as the 'most valuable industry in the world'<sup>74</sup> because it is central to social wellbeing, and to life itself. In rural areas where public social infrastructure is already sorely lacking, women and people living in poverty are doing extra, largely invisible, care work to compensate lack of alternatives, often without choice.

Since the pandemic began, there has been no shortage of proposals for economic transformation and social innovation. Numerous women's rights and gender advocacy organizations have hosted reflections or published pieces on care work, 75 and previous reports and case studies on feminist economics have resurfaced, advancing amongst others the urgency of socializing care work. Hawaii's State Commission on the Status of Women created a propositional idea on what a feminist economic recovery plan for COVID-19 that prioritizes care and caregiving, would look like. 76 Articles on the issue have also proliferated. On 3 April 2020, for example, the editorial board of The Financial Times ran a piece that argued for the need for 'a social contract that benefits everyone'.77 In the same month, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) published blogs and recommendations that push for greener economies as well as wealth taxes as a source of revenue. 78 And yet, the most remarkable aspect of the global discussion has been a noticeable shift in public opinion at least in some parts of the world, towards the radical notion that people - all people - are equally and equitably deserving of care, and that carers are valuable and worth the public investment in infrastructure, services, social protection and income that is required to guarantee it. In May 2020, for example, YouGov published the results of a UK survey in which over 80% of respondents stated that they want the country to prioritize health and wellbeing ahead of economic growth. 79

## ALTERNATIVE ECONOMIC MODELS BASED ON CARE

Increased interest in alternative economic systems and models, including circular, degrowth or 'Doughnut' models, 80 are helping us also envision a new economic model centred on care, with

progress measured against diverse indicators of wellbeing, eliminating income poverty, time poverty, inequality and under-representation of different groups. Importantly, the aim of such a models is to allow a community to thrive by distributing care work between men and women, across socio-economic classes, ethno-racial groups and private and public institutions. Such alternative models are not pure theory, nor unrelated to COVID-19: Iceland, New Zealand and Taiwan, for example, have already adopted national budgets that prioritize indicators of happiness, well-being and/or inclusive growth over GDP growth, and these countries have very low reported COVID-19 deaths so far, arguably at least in part because they put wellbeing before the economy.<sup>81</sup>

### THE BARRIERS TO CHANGE

Economic recovery after the 2008 global financial crisis proved to be difficult and painful, and the measures and changes advanced were not radical enough to address the roots of the problem nor to counter partisan politics.82 Renouncing the traditional economic narratives that prevent feminist and new economic thinking from becoming 'mainstream' remains a huge challenge. The notion of using public resources to care for communities, without expecting 'anything' in exchange, is still facing stigma and prejudice by those who adhere to fiscally conservative narratives linked exclusively to GDP and profit margins. The concept of 'healthy finances' still carries the understanding that public expenditure is a 'cost' to the state and something only the privileged should enjoy, rather than an investment in improving wellbeing and meeting the rights of everyone. For example, the UK's New Economics Foundation (NEF) has documented how dominant narratives in British economics, such as 'debt is dangerous' and 'welfare is a drug', reflect and reproduce wider societal attitudes that are determinants for economic policy.83 Moreover, despite mounting evidence of tax evasion and avoidance by multinationals and high-net worth individuals,84 the narrative against taxing the rich in order to maintain foreign investment and compete internationally prevails in many public debates while the argument to care for people is side-lined.

Beyond these harmful narratives, there are many other barriers that impact a democratic society's ability to envision and enact change. These include addressing corporate capture of state decisions, promoting public participation in setting budgets, and ensuring full transparency and setting progressive taxation. Addressing these barriers would support significant transformations in both higher and lower-income economies abilities to raise the standards and fulfil rights for everyone.

## TRANSFORMATION DURING THE CORONAVIRUS RECOVERY

Sufficient progressive taxation and public spending are necessary tools for reducing inequalities. As Oxfam detailed in its 2020 report 'Dignity not Destitution', the response to the economic fallout of the COVID-19 pandemic requires measures 'that underpin a new social contract between people, governments and the market and that radically reduce inequality and lay the foundations for a more human economy'. <sup>85</sup> Feminist organizations have been supporting the campaign for a 'Feminist Bailout' that puts 'the health and wellbeing of our communities' at its heart. <sup>86</sup> Similarly, a European petition is demanding care investments and a 'Care Deal for Europe'. <sup>87</sup> Others, like the economist Mariana Mazzucato, envisage the private sector taking coresponsibility alongside the state in order to transform public–private partnerships, producing shared benefits for communities, rather than profits. <sup>88</sup> Rather than recovery and reverting back to the old 'normal', the call is for change and critically, transformation. The focus on mass social provisioning for care, with all being carers and all being cared for, is the best place to start.

#### Box 6: The way forward towards care and economic transformation

The economic narrative needs to evolve in order to include care and wellbeing in a new economic thinking and practice able to deliver fairness and universal human rights.

- Our feminist future means that care, as central to life and rights, is the bedrock of
  societies and is extended to, provided by and shared with all, within the context of a
  new social contract. The emotional and physical work of care as something that is
  essential for all human beings and societies must be shared across genders and
  decoupled from the characteristics of femininity or gender.
- Our communities should reimagine and redefine production and distribution systems, work and individual and social wellbeing, addressing issues such as fairness in remuneration and recognition and universal social protection.
- Our decision makers should stand with carers including those who are low-paid and unpaid – to ensure they receive the support they need and that their care workload is reduced and redistributed in a way that is free, accessible and safe, and ensure care for people needing it. Progressive taxation and state investment in social and care infrastructure are necessary policy commitments that leaders must make to ensure carers thrive, and that necessary care is provided.
- Our institutions should look beyond GDP growth as the standard indicator of economic health and instead embrace environmental and social wellbeing as measurements of economic effectiveness. They should invest in accessible, quality, dignified, free and public infrastructure that guarantees universal social protections and care, including paid parental leave, child and elder care, unemployment benefits, healthcare, care income support, social care, community and youth centres, schools, and artistic and cultural hubs.

Until collectively we reach the above, people must continue to campaign to protect and secure the rights of carers, secure their incomes, share their work, raise their security and elevate their voices by funding women's rights organizations, caregivers' unions and feminist movements.

### 5 HOW TO MOVE FORWARD: CARE, SOCIAL JUSTICE, AND HUMAN RIGHTS FOR ALL

'Historically, pandemics have forced humans to break with the past and imagine their world anew. This one is no different. It is a portal, a gateway between one world and the next.' Arundhati Roy, Financial Times, 2020.

As the coronavirus crisis unfolds, we are propelled – by curiosity, optimism or pure pragmatism – to look for signs of humanity and kindness and to hope that they are the start of 'caring' paths towards social justice and human rights for all. While this is not a comprehensive list, these promising, caring acts could include:

- Rethinking our understanding and valuing of work and workers, the status and social protections we give to different types of formal and informal, paid and unpaid work, how work and workers can contribute more to social good, our relationship to work, the sharing of and choice to engage in unpaid work, and our compensation for work. In Finland<sup>89</sup> and New Zealand, <sup>90</sup> for example, employers are being encouraged to move to a four-day working week as a socially responsible and caring way of maintaining employment levels in the face of economic recession, while also freeing up time for all to engage in unpaid home and community life. The Global Solidarity Platform of Wiego is calling for 'long-term investments... to rebuild economies around the understanding that informal economy workers, especially women, sustain households, communities, and economies; are central to the rebuilding of local value chains; and require a guarantee of decent work standards in all sectors.'91
- Investing in and ensuring universal reach of social infrastructure and services, including education, housing, health and wider social care services, and sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR). Care services should be of high quality, help reduce unpaid care work, free up time and choices for women and engage men. Analysis shows that investing in care services, such as social care and childcare, is both a green and feminist way to catalyze a recovery. For example, the Women's Budget Group (UK) suggests 'investment in care would create 2.7 times more jobs as the same investment in construction, mostly for women, recouping 50% more in tax revenue, and producing 30% less emissions.'92 Education should provide all young people with the knowledge and tools to challenge gender roles, challenge inequalities and be active and engaged citizens. In Argentina, some municipalities have also been bringing homeless communities into fully serviced hotel accommodation, applying rent freezes and preventing housing evictions.<sup>93</sup> Lastly, SRHR services need to be available to all that need them.
- Rethinking infrastructure and accelerating the transition to low-carbon sectors and societies. This should include greener energy and care sectors and the reclamation and rehabilitation of environmental sites and community spaces, including national parks, community gardens, returning public land to public benefit, and not only available in middle-upper class areas or to 'elite' users. Carbon emissions and air quality could be radically improved by a massive uplift in bicycle use, pedestrian numbers and low-density rail and bus travel options, and a reduction in commuting to work. We can already see the world's biggest economies and cities, including London, freeing up roads to make way for walkers and cyclists. Access to recreation and care sites should be prioritized, such as parks and playgrounds, community centers for social and civic engagements as well as entertainment, exercise, sports.

- Reimagining economic thinking and practices towards social justice, cohesion and wellbeing for all. Taxes and investment should be set through participatory budgeting and the burden of taxes shifted from labour to wealth, profits and the use of carbon. Taxes on the lowest-income households and individuals should be cancelled or deferred, as has been seen in Uruguay, where taxes on street vendors are among those suspended temporarily. Businesses should put creation of collective value and resilience over profit, and put employees and their families, customers and communities before shareholders. Corporations should pay their fair share in taxes in the country where production occurs, and without lobbying or influencing for special treatment. There have already been multiple countries that have denied bailouts to companies registered in tax havens.
- Creating global security policies that are people-centered and focused on peace and justice requires that women and youth need to be meaningfully engaged in developing these policies. Priority should be given to diplomatic solutions, international cooperation and inclusion that enshrine freedom from violence, discrimination, persecution and exploitation. Colonial, racist, patriarchal, elitist and male-dominated power structures need to be transformed and a new feminist architecture created. We see the ultimate act of global care being the international community and all warring parties putting their differences aside and implementing a global ceasefire; <sup>97</sup> and the coming together of countries in supporting the development of coronavirus vaccines, treatments and tests that are patent free, mass produced, distributed fairly and made available to all people, in all countries, free of charge. <sup>98</sup>
- Defining new standards of 'good governance' public and private that are powered by ideas of feminist, collective and transformative leadership, with decisions made at the lowest level suitable, and putting community wellbeing before individual or corporate wealth. They should be rooted in the diversity of voices and civic and political activism, and ensure accountability and collective, evidence-based decision making. Critically, they should be constructed on a deep public understanding of histories and dynamics of oppression and of the struggles for human rights and freedoms. During the global coronavirus response, we have already seen examples in terms of women's leadership and successful responses including in Germany, Portugal, Taiwan, New Zealand and Finland where women leaders have prioritized quick and comprehensive actions to curtail the spread of disease, and by being clear and transparent with their citizens.<sup>99</sup>

#### NOTES

- Global Health 50/50. Men, Sex, Gender and COVID-19. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://globalhealth5050.org/covid19/men-sex-gender-and-covid-19/
- Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/es/post-opinion/2020/04/13/mexico-abandona-las-mujeres-violentadas-en-esta-contingencia/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/es/post-opinion/2020/04/13/mexico-abandona-las-mujeres-violentadas-en-esta-contingencia/</a>]
- <sup>3</sup> Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://g1.globo.com/sp/sao-paulo/noticia/2020/04/28/pretos-tem-62percent-mais-chance-de-morrer-por-covid-19-em-sao-paulo-do-que-brancos.ghtml">https://g1.globo.com/sp/sao-paulo/noticia/2020/04/28/pretos-tem-62percent-mais-chance-de-morrer-por-covid-19-em-sao-paulo-do-que-brancos.ghtml</a>
- According with Indepaz (Retrieved July 2020 from: http://www.indepaz.org.co/). Since March 24<sup>th</sup> when the confinement began, 68 community leaders have been killed (7 women, 16 indigenous, 5 afro, 24 farmers, 7 civic leaders, 9 community leader)
- Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/21/hungary-ends-legal-recognition-transgender-and-intersex-people">https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/21/hungary-ends-legal-recognition-transgender-and-intersex-people</a>
- HRC. (2020). The Economic Impact of Covid-19 on the LGBTQ Community. https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/COVID19-EconomicImpact-IssueBrief-042220.pdf? ga=2.169186401.1174201493.1589206693-124555597.1585079069 Retrieved June 2020]
- ASAM (2020). Sectoral Analysis of the Impacts of COVID-19 Pandemic on Refugees Living in Turkey. https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/76639
- Oxfam. (2020). Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928">https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928</a>
- S. Newsome. (2020, 27 April). Coronavirus Bailouts Will Cost Taxpayers Hundreds of Billions of Dollars Unlike Past Corporate Rescues That Actually Made Money for the US Treasury. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-bailouts-will-cost-taxpayers-hundreds-of-billions-of-dollars-unlike-past-corporate-rescues-that-actually-made-money-for-the-us-treasury-136138">https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-bailouts-will-cost-taxpayers-hundreds-of-billions-of-dollars-unlike-past-corporate-rescues-that-actually-made-money-for-the-us-treasury-136138</a>
- <sup>10</sup> M. Stevenson. (2020, 6 May). Amid Pandemic, Mexico to Cut Funds for Women's Shelters. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://apnews.com/a674df71bef62f4ef9d466b8d12bc28b">https://apnews.com/a674df71bef62f4ef9d466b8d12bc28b</a>
- C. Crudo Blackburn and L. Ruyle. (2020, 27 May). How Leadership in Various Countries has Affected COVID-19 Response Effectiveness. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://theconversation.com/how-leadership-in-various-countries-has-affected-covid-19-response-effectiveness-138692">https://theconversation.com/how-leadership-in-various-countries-has-affected-covid-19-response-effectiveness-138692</a>
- <sup>12</sup> Amnesty International. (2019, 27 November). Abortion Rights at Risk in Slovakia. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/EUR72/1482/2019/en/
- S. Tisdall. (2020, 26 April) From Trump to Erdoğan, men who behave badly make the worst leaders in a pandemic. Retrieved July 2020 from: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/apr/26/trump-to-erdogan-men-who-behave-badly-make-worst-leaders-pandemic-covid-19
- <sup>14</sup> P. Rohela, A. Bhan, D. Ravindranath, D.L. Bose, S. Pathare. (2020). *Must there be a "war" against coronavirus? Indian Journal of Medical Ethics*, V(3), 222-226. Retrieved July 2020 from: <a href="https://ijme.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Must-there-be-a-"war"-against-coronavirus222-226.pdf">https://ijme.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Must-there-be-a-"war"-against-coronavirus222-226.pdf</a>
- T. Walker. (2018, 24 July). The Rise of Strongman Politics. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.latrobe.edu.au/news/articles/2018/opinion/the-rise-of-strongman-politics">https://www.latrobe.edu.au/news/articles/2018/opinion/the-rise-of-strongman-politics</a>
- H. Lewis. (2020, 6 May). The Pandemic Has Revealed the Weakness of Strongmen. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2020/05/new-zealand-germany-women-leadership-strongmen-coronavirus/611161/">https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2020/05/new-zealand-germany-women-leadership-strongmen-coronavirus/611161/</a>
- S. Tisdall. (2020, 26 April) From Trump to Erdoğan, men who behave badly make the worst leaders in a pandemic. Retrieved July 2020 from: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/apr/26/trump-to-erdogan-men-who-behave-badly-make-worst-leaders-pandemic-covid-19
- M. Ghiabi. (2020, 17 April). Mutual Aid and Solidarity in Iran during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://merip.org/2020/04/mutual-aid-and-solidarity-in-iran-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/">https://merip.org/2020/04/mutual-aid-and-solidarity-in-iran-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/</a>
- <sup>19</sup> UN Women. (2020, 21 April). Advice From Activists: How COVID-19 is changing climate activism for young women. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/compilation-covid-19-and-climate-activism">https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/compilation-covid-19-and-climate-activism</a>
- <sup>20</sup> https://thepeoplesbailout.org/ Retrieved June 2020.
- <sup>21</sup> C. Gilligan. (2018). Moral Orientation and Moral Development [1987]. DOI: 10.4324/9780429499463
- E. Glenn. (2000). Creating a Caring Society. Contemporary Sociology, 29(1), 84–94. Retrieved June 2020 from: www.jstor.org/stable/2654934
- M. Fine. (2015). Cultures of Care. Routledge Handbook of Cultural Gerontology, 269–276.

- <sup>24</sup> Oxfam. (2020). Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928">https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928</a>
- <sup>25</sup> J. Charmes. (2019). The Unpaid Care Work and the Labour Market. An analysis of time use data based on the latest World Compilation of Time-use Surveys. Geneva: International Labour Office. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---gender/documents/publication/wcms">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/----gender/documents/publication/wcms</a> 732791.pdf
- <sup>26</sup> ILO (2017) Care Work and Care Jobs, For the future of Decent Work. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms\_633166.pdf
- Ai-Jen Poo is the Executive Director of the National Domestic Workers Alliance and the Co-Director of Caring Across Generations. A-J. Poo. (2020, 2 April). This Is Our (Caring) Revolution. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://onbeing.org/programs/ai-jen-poo-this-is-our-caring-revolution/">https://onbeing.org/programs/ai-jen-poo-this-is-our-caring-revolution/</a>
- A. Batnitzky and L. Mcdowell. (2011). Migration, nursing, institutional discrimination and emotional/affective labour: ethnicity and labour stratification in the UK National Health Service. Social & Cultural Geography SOC CULT GEOGR. 12. 181-201; Y. Gunaratnam. (2008). . Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care 1(1): 9-17; D. Engster. (2007). The Heart of Justice: Care Ethics and Political Theory. NY: Oxford University Press; V. Held. (2006) Ethics of Care: Personal, Political and Global. NY: Oxford University Press. in C. Koggel. and J. Orme. (2019). Care Ethics: New Theories and Applications. London: Routledge
- <sup>29</sup> G. Pratt. (1999) From registered nurse to registered nanny: Discursive geographics of Filipina domestic workers in Vancouver, BC. Economic Geography 75 (3): 215-236; H. Graham. (2007), Unequal Lives: Health and Socioeconomic Inequalities. Buckingham: Open University Press
- 30 Hondagneu-Sotelo, Pierrette. 2001. Doméstica: Immigrant Workers Cleaning and Caring in the Shadows of Affluence. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Oxfam. (2020). Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928">https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928</a>
- Oxfam (2020). Care in the time of coronavirus. Retrieved July 2002 from <a href="https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/621009/bp-care-crisis-time-for-global-reevaluation-care-250620-en.pdf">https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/621009/bp-care-crisis-time-for-global-reevaluation-care-250620-en.pdf</a>
- 32 C. Hupkau and B. Petrongolo. (2020). Work, Care and Gender During the Covid-19 Crisis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-002.pdf">http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-002.pdf</a>
- <sup>33</sup> For example <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/22/us/politics/coronavirus-economy-shutdown.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/22/us/politics/coronavirus-economy-shutdown.html</a> Retrieved June 2020.
- N. Kabeer. (2020, 18 May). Labour Market Inequalities are Exacerbated by COVID-19. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/covid19/2020/05/18/naila-kabeer-labour-market-inequalities-are-exacerbated-by-covid-19/">https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/covid19/2020/05/18/naila-kabeer-labour-market-inequalities-are-exacerbated-by-covid-19/</a>
- M. Waring. (1990). If Women Counted: A new feminist economics. San Francisco: Harper Collins Publishers.
- <sup>36</sup> Oxfam, Promundo-US, & MenCare. (2020). Caring Under COVID-19: How the Pandemic Is and Is Not Changing Unpaid Care and Domestic Work Responsibilities in the United States. Boston: Oxfam, & Washington, DC: Promundo-US.
- <sup>37</sup> Promundo. (2019). Men, Masculinities and Gender Equality. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://promundoglobal.org/what-we-know-about-men-masculinities-and-gender-equality/
- 38 Oxfam (2016). Factors and Norms Influencing Unpaid Care Work. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/10546/620145/1/er-household-care-survey-wecare-151116-en.pdf
- Oxfam. (2014). Quick Guide to Power Analysis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/quick-quide-to-power-analysis-313950">https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/quick-quide-to-power-analysis-313950</a>
- Peggy McIntosh, a prominent feminist and activist, proposes the following definition of privilege, 'an unearned advantage, through which some people, groups, or conceptualizations are elevated, promoted, given the benefit of the doubt, trusted as responsible and sound, and considered to be extra worthy of the support and respect of the society by the virtue of the good qualities associated with or attributed to them, regardless of the actual effects and actions of people or ideas.'
- K. Case. (2013). Deconstructing Privilege: Teaching and learning as allies in the classroom. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.routledge.com/Deconstructing-Privilege-Teaching-and-Learning-as-Allies-in-the-Classroom/Case/p/book/9780415641463
- S. Jackson. (2006). Interchanges: Gender, sexuality and heterosexuality: The complexity (and limits) of heteronormativity. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1464700106061462

- P. Mlambo-Ngcuka. (2020, 6 April). Violence Against Women and Girls: The shadow pandemic. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/statement-ed-phumzile-violence-against-women-during-pandemic">https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/statement-ed-phumzile-violence-against-women-during-pandemic</a>
- 43 N. Martin and C. Mayorga. (2020, 30 April). Violentadas en cuarentena. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://violentadasencuarentena.distintaslatitudes.net/una-mirada-latinoamericana/
- <sup>44</sup> UN Women. (2002). *Gendered Effects of Covid-19 in Asia and the Pacific*. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://data.unwomen.org/resources/surveys-show-covid-19-has-gendered-effects-asia-and-pacific">https://data.unwomen.org/resources/surveys-show-covid-19-has-gendered-effects-asia-and-pacific</a>
- <sup>45</sup> C. Gilligan. (2018). Moral Orientation and Moral Development [1987]. DOI: 10.4324/9780429499463
- A. Bailey and C.J. Cuomo. (2008). The Feminist Philosophy Reader. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- <sup>46</sup> N. Noddings. (1984). Caring: A feminine approach to ethics and moral education. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- <sup>47</sup> V. Held. (2006). *Ethics of Care*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- E. Conradi. (2015). Redoing Care: Societal transformation through critical practice. Ethics and Social Welfare, 9(2), 113–129. DOI: 10.1080/17496535.2015.1005553
- <sup>49</sup> P. Raghuram. (2019). Race and Feminist Care Ethics: Intersectionality as method. Gender, Place & Culture, 26(5), 613–637, DOI: 10.1080/0966369X.2019.1567471
- <sup>50</sup> A. Botes. (2000). A Comparison Between the Ethics of Justice and the Ethics Of Care. J Adv Nurs,32(5), 1071–1075. DOI:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2000.01576.x
- <sup>51</sup> The Combahee River Collective Statement. Retrieved June 2020 from: http://circuitous.org/scraps/combahee.html
- <sup>52</sup> V. Held. (2010). Can the Ethics of Care Handle Violence? Ethics and Social Welfare, 4(2), 115–129.
- <sup>53</sup> K. Kramer and J. Ware. (2019). Counting the Cost 2019: A year of climate breakdown. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.christianaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-12/Counting-the-cost-2019-report-embargoed-27Dec19.pdf">https://www.christianaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-12/Counting-the-cost-2019-report-embargoed-27Dec19.pdf</a>
- <sup>54</sup> Chalmers. (N.d.). Global Standard Counts the Cost of Environmental Damage. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.chalmers.se/en/departments/tme/news/Pages/New-global-standard-counts-the-cost-of-environmental-damage.aspx">https://www.chalmers.se/en/departments/tme/news/Pages/New-global-standard-counts-the-cost-of-environmental-damage.aspx</a>
- <sup>55</sup> A. Wyns. (2020, 2 April). How Our Responses to Climate Change and the Coronavirus Are Linked? Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/climate-change-coronavirus-linked/">https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/climate-change-coronavirus-linked/</a>
- <sup>56</sup> Fridays For Future. Who We Are. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://fridaysforfuture.org/what-we-do/who-we-are/">https://fridaysforfuture.org/what-we-do/who-we-are/</a>
- <sup>57</sup> H.Res.109 Recognizing the duty of the Federal Government to create a Green New Deal. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-resolution/109/text">https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-resolution/109/text</a>
- <sup>58</sup> Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.circle-economy.com/insights/the-amsterdam-city-doughnut-a-tool-for-transformative-action">https://www.circle-economy.com/insights/the-amsterdam-city-doughnut-a-tool-for-transformative-action</a>
- 59 Retrieved June 2020 from: http://feministgreennewdeal.com/
- K. Whyte and C.J. Cuomo. (2016). Ethics of Caring in Environmental Ethics: Indigenous and feminist philosophies. The Oxford Handbook of Environmental Ethics. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://ssrn.com/abstract=2770065">https://ssrn.com/abstract=2770065</a>
- 61 E. Hunt. (2020, 6 February). The Eco Gender Gap: Why is saving the planet seen as women's work? Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/feb/06/eco-gender-gap-why-saving-planet-seen-womens-work">https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/feb/06/eco-gender-gap-why-saving-planet-seen-womens-work</a>
- M. Mies. (1981). Social Origins of the Sexual Division of Labour. Institute of Social Studies Occasional Papers, No. 85. The Hague: Institute of Social Studies. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://core.ac.uk/reader/18507560
- A. Acosta. (N.d.). Extractivism and Neoextractivism: Two sides of the same curse. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.tni.org/files/download/beyonddevelopment\_extractivism.pdf">https://www.tni.org/files/download/beyonddevelopment\_extractivism.pdf</a>
- <sup>64</sup> J. Preston, (2017) "Racial Extractivism and White Settler Colonialism: An Examination of the Canadian Tar Sands mega-projects, *Cultural Studies* 31(2), 353-375. <a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/10.1080/09502386.2017.1303432">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/10.1080/09502386.2017.1303432</a>; M. Villarreal and E. E. Munoz. 2020. "Extractivism and Resistance in Latin America and the Caribbean." *Open Democracy*. <a href="https://opendemocracy.net/en/democraciaabierta/luchas-resistencias-y-alternativas-al-extractivismo-en-américa-latina-y-caribe-en/">https://opendemocracy.net/en/democraciaabierta/luchas-resistencias-y-alternativas-al-extractivismo-en-américa-latina-y-caribe-en/</a>
- 65 L. Spinner. (2020, 28 March). Is Factory Farming to Blame for Coronavirus? Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/mar/28/is-factory-farming-to-blame-for-coronavirus
- <sup>66</sup> T. Gore. (2015). Extreme Carbon Inequality: Why the Paris climate deal must put the poorest, lowest emitting and most vulnerable people first. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-">https://policy-</a>

- practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/extreme-carbon-inequality-why-the-paris-climate-deal-must-put-the-poorest-lowes-582545
- <sup>67</sup> Oxfam. (2019). Who Takes the Heat? Untold stories of climate crisis in the Horn of Africa and Mozambique. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/who-takes-heat-untold-stories-climate-crisis-horn-africa-and-mozambique">https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/who-takes-heat-untold-stories-climate-crisis-horn-africa-and-mozambique</a>
- 68 H. Kaur Paul. (2019, 17 September). How Can We Think About Climate Change Financing Within a Climate of Inequality? Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-can-we-think-about-climate-change-financing-within-a-climate-of-inequality/">https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-can-we-think-about-climate-of-inequality/</a>
- <sup>69</sup> Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://youngfeministfund.org/2019/02/how-do-feminism-care-practices-and-climate-activism-connect/">https://youngfeministfund.org/2019/02/how-do-feminism-care-practices-and-climate-activism-connect/</a>
- According to Indepaz (Retrieved from: http://www.indepaz.org.co/) in 2020, 150 social leaders and defenders have been killed (14 women, 49 indigenous, 8 afro, 53 campesinos (peasants or farmers), 18 civil leaders, 12 community leaders, 2 miners).
- A-J. Poo. (2020, 2 April). This Is Our (Caring) Revolution. Op. cit.
- <sup>72</sup> Retrieved 25 June 2020: <a href="https://iwpr.org/publications/future-care-work-jobs/">https://iwpr.org/publications/future-care-work-jobs/</a>
- <sup>73</sup> Oxfam. (2020). Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928">https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/time-to-care-unpaid-and-underpaid-care-work-and-the-global-inequality-crisis-620928</a>
- Oxfam. (N.d.). Not All Gaps Are Created Equal: The true value of care work. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.oxfam.org/en/not-all-gaps-are-created-equal-true-value-care-work">https://www.oxfam.org/en/not-all-gaps-are-created-equal-true-value-care-work</a>
- 75 See: http://www.iaffe.org/covid19-pandemic/
- <sup>76</sup> Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://humanservices.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/4.13.20-Final-Cover-D2-Feminist-Economic-Recovery-D1.pdf">https://humanservices.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/4.13.20-Final-Cover-D2-Feminist-Economic-Recovery-D1.pdf</a>
- Financial Times. (2020, 3 April). Virus Lays Bare the Frailty of the Social Contract. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.ft.com/content/76ff769a-74dd-11ea-95fe-fcd274e920ca
- <sup>78</sup>Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://blogs.imf.org/2020/04/20/a-global-crisis-like-no-other-needs-a-global-response-like-no-other/">https://blogs.imf.org/2020/04/20/a-global-crisis-like-no-other-needs-a-global-response-like-no-other/</a> and <a href="https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/covid19-special-notes/special-series-on-covid-19-tax-issues-an-overview.ashx">https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/covid19-special-notes/special-series-on-covid-19-tax-issues-an-overview.ashx</a>
- 79 S. Youel. (2020, 11 May). New Polling: Only 12% want UK to prioritise economic growth over wellbeing. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://positivemoney.org/2020/05/new-polling-only-12-want-uk-to-prioritise-economic-growth-over-wellbeing/">https://positivemoney.org/2020/05/new-polling-only-12-want-uk-to-prioritise-economic-growth-over-wellbeing/</a>
- Circular economy the end of a product's life is built in from the start (Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.circulareconomyclub.com/gd-home/what-is-the-circular-economy/">https://www.circulareconomyclub.com/gd-home/what-is-the-circular-economy/</a>). Degrowth model moving away from the pursuit of GDP growth towards a reduction in the material size of the economy, redistribution of benefits and a shift in common values towards care, solidarity and autonomy (Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.degrowth.info/en/what-is-degrowth/">https://www.degrowth.info/en/what-is-degrowth/</a>). 'Doughnut' model ensuring economies meet people's essential needs, while staying within environmental limits (Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/">https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/</a>).
- 81 L. Coscieme et al. (2020, 26 May). Women in Power: Countries with female leaders suffer six times fewer Covid deaths and will recover sooner from recession. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/women-power-countries-female-leaders-suffer-six-times-fewer-covid-deaths-and-will-recover-sooner-recession/">https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/women-power-countries-female-leaders-suffer-six-times-fewer-covid-deaths-and-will-recover-sooner-recession/</a>
- L. Savage. (2019). The Politics of Social Spending After the Great Recession: The return of partisan policy making. Governance, 32(1). Retrieved June 2020 from: https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12354
- New Economics Foundation. (2013). *Framing the Economy: The austerity story*. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://b.3cdn.net/nefoundation/a12416779f2dd4153c\_2hm6ixryj.pdf
- N. Shaxson (2019) Tackling Tax Havens. IMF Finance & Development, September 2019. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2019/09/pdf/fd0919.pdf
- Oxfam. (2020). Dignity Not Destitution: An 'Economic Rescue Plan For All' to tackle the Coronavirus crisis and rebuild a more equal world. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/dignity-not-destitution
- 86 Retrieved 25 June 2020 from: https://twitter.com/AWID/status/1267292613813637122
- 87 <a href="https://www.womenlobby.org/European-Women-s-Lobby-calls-for-a-solid-gender-equality-Pillar-of-Social">https://www.womenlobby.org/European-Women-s-Lobby-calls-for-a-solid-gender-equality-Pillar-of-Social</a> Retrieved 25 June 2020
- M. Mazzucato. (2020, 18 March). *The Covid-19 Crisis Is A Chance To Do Capitalism Differently*. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/mar/18/the-covid-19-crisis-is-a-chance-to-do-capitalism-differently">https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/mar/18/the-covid-19-crisis-is-a-chance-to-do-capitalism-differently</a>

- A. Spicer. (2020, 6 January). Will Finland Introduce a Four-Day Week? Is it the secret of happiness? Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/money/shortcuts/2020/jan/06/finland-is-planning-a-four-day-week-is-this-the-secret-of-happiness">https://www.theguardian.com/money/shortcuts/2020/jan/06/finland-is-planning-a-four-day-week-is-this-the-secret-of-happiness</a>
- E. Ainge Roy. (2020, 20 May). Jacinda Ardern Flags Four-Day Working Week as Way to Rebuild New Zealand After Covid-19. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/may/20/jacinda-ardern-flags-four-day-working-week-as-way-to-rebuild-new-zealand-after-covid-19
- <sup>91</sup> COVID-19 and the World's Two Billion Informal Economy Workers A WIEGO Network Global Solidarity Platform May 1, 2020. Retrieved August 2020 from: <a href="https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/COVID-19\_WIEGO\_Network\_Global\_Platform.pdf">https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/COVID-19\_WIEGO\_Network\_Global\_Platform.pdf</a>
- 92 https://wbg.org.uk/analysis/reports/a-care-led-recovery-from-coronavirus/
- U. Gentilini et al. (2020). Social Protection and Jobs Responses to COVID-19: A real-time review of country measures. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="http://www.ugogentilini.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Country-social-protection-COVID-responses\_April3-1.pdf">http://www.ugogentilini.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Country-social-protection-COVID-responses\_April3-1.pdf</a>
- 94 Mayor's bold new Streetspace plan will overhaul London's streets. Retrieved 25 June 2020 from: https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayors-bold-plan-will-overhaul-capitals-streets
- Montevideo Portal. (2020, 20 March). Te Anoto, Pagás Después: La Intendencia "disminuyó la presión fiscal" en el marco de la emergencia por coronavirus. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.montevideo.com.uy/Noticias/La-Intendencia-disminuyo-la-presion-fiscal-en-el-marco-de-la-emergencia-por-coronavirus-uc747664">https://www.montevideo.com.uy/Noticias/La-Intendencia-disminuyo-la-presion-fiscal-en-el-marco-de-la-emergencia-por-coronavirus-uc747664</a>
- J. Harper. (2020, 29 April). EU Split Over Halting Bailouts for Tax Haven Firms. Retrieved June 2020 from: <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/eu-split-over-halting-bailouts-for-tax-haven-firms/a-53278756">https://www.dw.com/en/eu-split-over-halting-bailouts-for-tax-haven-firms/a-53278756</a>
- 97 Retrieved 25 June 2020: https://www.un.org/africarenewal/news/coronavirus/covid-19-un-secretary-general%E2%80%99s-call-global-peace-gains-international-support
- <sup>98</sup> Open Letter: Uniting Behind A People's Vaccine Against COVID-19. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://medium.com/@Oxfam/uniting-behind-a-peoples-vaccine-against-covid-19-87eec640976
- A. Wittenberg-Cox. (2020, 13 April). What Do Countries With The Best Coronavirus Responses Have In Common? Women leaders. Retrieved June 2020 from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/avivahwittenbergcox/2020/04/13/what-do-countries-with-the-best-coronavirus-reponses-have-in-common-women-leaders/#55d3e49a3dec

#### Oxfam Discussion Papers

Oxfam Discussion Papers are written to contribute to public debate and to invite feedback on development and humanitarian policy issues. They are 'work in progress' documents, and do not necessarily constitute final publications or reflect Oxfam policy positions. The views and recommendations expressed are those of the author and not necessarily those of Oxfam.

This paper was written by Kim Piaget, Clare Coffey, Sebastián Molano, Maria José Moreno, with editing from Rosario Castro, Kaitlyn Henderson, Namalie Jayasinghe, Anam Parvez Butt, Hadeel Qazzaz, Helen Wishart and Mayssam Zaaroura. We gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Julie Thekkudan and the additional comments received from many other Oxfam colleagues including Gopika Bashi, Mamata Dash, Gawain Kripke, Rashmi Mistry, Amita Pitre, Kimberly Pfeifer, Ed Pomfret, Alively Ramisetty, Sengul Akar, Deepak Xavier, Sandra Sotelo Reyes, and additional members of the Oxfam International Gender Justice platform.

For more information, or to comment on this paper, email advocacy@oxfaminternational.org

© Oxfam International September 2020

This publication is copyright but the text may be used free of charge for the purposes of advocacy, campaigning, education, and research, provided that the source is acknowledged in full. The copyright holder requests that all such use be registered with them for impact assessment purposes. For copying in any other circumstances, or for re-use in other publications, or for translation or adaptation, permission must be secured and a fee may be charged. E-mail policyandpractice@oxfam.org.uk.

The information in this publication is correct at the time of going to press.

Published by Oxfam GB for Oxfam International under ISBN 978-1-78748-634-8 in September 2020. DOI: 10.21201/2020.6348

Oxfam GB, Oxfam House, John Smith Drive, Cowley, Oxford, OX4 2JY, UK.

#### **OXFAM**

Oxfam is an international confederation of 20 organizations networked together in 67 countries, as part of a global movement for change, to build a future free from the injustice of poverty. Please write to any of the agencies for further information, or visit www.oxfam.org.

Oxfam America (www.oxfamamerica.org)

Oxfam Australia (www.oxfam.org.au)

Oxfam-in-Belgium (www.oxfamsol.be)

Oxfam Brasil (www.oxfam.org.br)

Oxfam Canada (www.oxfam.ca)

Oxfam France (www.oxfamfrance.org)

Oxfam Germany (www.oxfam.de)

Oxfam GB (www.oxfam.org.uk)

Oxfam Hong Kong (www.oxfam.org.hk)

Oxfam IBIS (Denmark) (www.oxfamibis.dk)

Oxfam India (www.oxfamindia.org)

Oxfam Intermón (Spain) (www.oxfamintermon.org)

Oxfam Ireland (www.oxfamireland.org)

Oxfam Italy (www.oxfamitalia.org)

Oxfam Mexico (www.oxfammexico.org)

Oxfam New Zealand (www.oxfam.org.nz)

Oxfam Novib (Netherlands) (www.oxfamnovib.nl)

Oxfam Québec (www.oxfam.qc.ca)

Oxfam South Africa (www.oxfam.org.za)

KEDV (www.kedv.org.tr/)

